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FOR CAROL,

who brightened my explorations of Greenfield Village, just as she has everything else I’ve done for the last quarter century.
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ACHIEVEMENT, n. The death of endeavor and the birth of disgust.

—Ambrose Bierce, The Devil’s Dictionary


. . . Yes, Tin, Tin, Tin,

You exasperating puzzle, Hunk o’ Tin.

I’ve abused you and I’ve flayed you,

But by Henry Ford who made you,

You are better than a Packard, Hunk o’ Tin.

—C. C. Battershell, “Dedicated to the Memory of Car No. 423,” a Model T ambulance destroyed on the Western Front in 1917. After Rudyard Kipling’s “Gunga Din.”



I INVENTED
 THE MODERN AGE
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In 1913 the Ford Motor Company issued this cross-section of its world-changing creation, assuring the recipient that “the better you know your car, the better . . . you will enjoy it.”
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CHAPTER 1

A Homecoming

Saving the farm, then saving the entire past; between the steam engine and the Apple; “nobody knew anything about cars”; Fordism.

On a summer day in 1919 a middle-aged man left his Detroit office and drove out to Dearborn, ten miles away, to see the house where he’d been born. It was a farmhouse, long past its best days, and any passersby who noticed him poking around it must briefly have wondered what this visitor was doing there.

He wasn’t in any way flamboyant, but he was obviously prosperous, probably wearing one of the neat, quiet gray suits he favored year-round. A little over middle height, he stood so straight that most who met him described him as “tall.” He was moderately good-looking, but what might have been an ordinary face had already somehow proved impossible for painters, journalists, and even photographers to capture satisfactorily. Team sports had never interested him although he was athletic and loved to challenge friends to footraces; each time he moved to another vantage point in the farmhouse yard, he did it suddenly and quickly, almost as if he were answering a starting gun. He was not an architect, but he knew how things were put together, and carefully studied the window frames, the chimney, the pitch of the roof. This might be his last chance to see the farmstead, because the house was about to be destroyed.

That was largely his fault. The flow of traffic had grown so heavy in the past decade that the Dearborn city fathers had decided the road bordering the sixty-year-old building needed to be widened. Every second car contributing to that traffic bore the man’s name. Henry Ford was making half the automobiles in America.

Few people have the means to defy this sort of progress, but Ford did. He had the farmhouse moved two hundred feet back from the new road. But once the house was safe, it wouldn’t let him alone. At first he merely had it restored—some carpentry, fresh paint—but that wasn’t enough. He found that he wanted it furnished as it had been in the 1870s, when he was a boy interested in machinery, taking watches apart in his room there.

Now the tenacious perfectionism of the man took over. Representative furniture, typical furniture of the 1860s, wouldn’t do. It had to be the same furniture. He’d kept warm in the Michigan winters beside a Starlight Stove in the front parlor. He spent months searching for one, found a near-perfect example—but no, it was a bit too small, it wasn’t a Model 25. Then there was the carpeting on the stairs, a faded rusty crimson that he remembered precisely. He had one of the fifty thousand men who worked for him go through antiques shops—local ones, at first, then as far away as Cincinnati—to match it.

The family china: He could remember the stair carpet, but not the plates he had once eaten off. Workers excavated where the dooryard had been, and came up with a ceramic shard large enough to reveal the pattern. Ford had a full dinner service reproduced. Beds, chairs, sofas were found and reupholstered. Ford’s agents got the right bureau, and Ford specified exactly what needles and thread should stock one of the drawers. He deviated from utter fidelity with the family organ. It was born with a foot-pump, but Ford had the instrument electrified—nobody could see the difference, after all—and when he stepped back into his youth he would sit at the keyboard for hours, laboriously playing with a finger or two the first songs he’d heard: “Turkey in the Straw,” “Flow Gently Sweet Afton.”

Upstairs the beds were made with fresh linen; out back stood the stacks of firewood, just as they had in his boyhood; the reservoirs of all the kerosene lamps were full, their wicks trimmed and ready for the match.

Ford had got more things than he’d needed to furnish his farmhouse. He kept the overflow in his office until 1922, when one of his tractor operations moved, leaving behind it an empty building that covered three acres. With this repository available, the carmaker’s ambitions expanded beyond the home of his youth to encompass the world of his youth.

Once again his agents went out, this time in their hundreds. They were, said the boss, to bring back “a complete series of every article ever used or made in America from the days of the first settlers down to the present time.”

The stream began to flow in: birdcages and settees and patent washboards; carriages, rifles, apple-parers; reapers and binders and the lunch wagon where Ford had grabbed meals when he was working for Detroit Edison back in the nineties. Ford accumulated enough objects, as it turned out, to entirely furnish, from weather vane and lightning rod to mantel clock and furnace, 107 buildings.

At the time, those buildings were living out their lives far from Ford and far from one another. One was a courthouse in Illinois where the young Abraham Lincoln had argued cases; two were Georgia slave cabins, one the brick storefront where Wilbur and Orville Wright sold bicycles while they conducted their momentous experiments.

The homely items Ford had collected still radiated the residual warmth of life from a vanished time, but the signals they sent out were faint, diffuse, cluttered. Put them in a landscape where men and women had used them, though, and their feeble, dissonant notes might become a powerful harmony.

Beyond the airport Ford had just built in Dearborn—it was 1926 now—lay a tract of land where nothing much at all had ever happened. He would, he decided, inject these anonymous acres with history by building on them a monument to the past: a village that would preserve the “American life as lived” of what he called a “saner and sweeter” time.

The man incubating this plan had done more than anyone else alive to annihilate that life; and he found much of its sweet sanity repellent. Everyone today knows his name, but very few could attribute more than one statement to him, which is that history was “bunk.” The “bunk” part he perceived in history may have been the sheer mass of it, all those names you had to learn, all those treaties and tariffs and boundary disputes. Ford always liked to see the thing itself. Years later some of his old lieutenants would say he couldn’t read a blueprint. He could, and competently, too. But it is perfectly true that he would far rather see the objects encoded in the cool white lines. His sense of what was sound engineering transmitted itself most surely through his fingertips.

So it was with the past. Ford wanted to be able to handle it, to walk inside it and look around. He bought the Illinois courthouse and moved it to Dearborn, to the town he had named Greenfield Village, after his wife’s birthplace. He bought the Wright brothers’ cycle shop, and moved it there, too—and, to keep it company, the carpentry Queen Anne house the brothers grew up in. He brought Thomas Edison’s laboratory from Menlo Park, New Jersey, along with a dozen freight-car loads of Jersey dirt so it could stand amid the snails and fungi it had always known, and the boardinghouse where Edison’s hard-pressed staff hadn’t slept enough.

The Edison Illuminating Company and its dynamos took up residence near Noah Webster’s home. Toward the end of his life Ford moved his farmstead there, and you can walk right into it today and see that perfectly retrieved stair carpeting.

What you won’t see in Greenfield village is a bank, or a law office: Ford had no use for bankers and lawyers. Many of them were Jews, he believed, and all were leeches who lived off the blood of creativity. He had no hesitation—for many years, at least—in sharing this information with anyone who would listen. This was Ford at his most independent and least attractive, tirelessly venting the cranky certainties that had seeped into his character even as he became famous.

All was mixed together as he conjured up his village, and it remains a place of contradictions, at least as far as his first expressed purpose goes. Edison and the Wrights had not worked to preserve the agrarian world of Ford’s boyhood. And neither had Ford.

As his village took shape, it turned out to be a wistful tribute not only to the sturdy American small farmer and the one-room schoolhouse where his children absorbed virtue along with grammar from their McGuffey’s Readers, but also to the forces that swept that world away, the dynamo and the electricity it conjured, the airplane, and of course the machine that Ford began building in 1903 in his Mack Avenue factory, whose gray-painted board front he carefully re-created.

Once, stopping at a house he was planning to move, where he had spent a good deal of time as a boy, Ford made a discovery. “I found some marbles, put a few of them in the palm of my hand, and as I applied pressure, they disintegrated. Life, change, had gone on.”

Not in Greenfield Village. As building after building arrived, as the automobile factory rose near the smithy, it became increasingly clear that this town was a concrete representation of Henry Ford’s mind, the things he missed, the things he took pride in, his ability to banish the things he disliked.

It was a monument not only to the agrarian youth of the nation, but also to the vehemently nonagrarian youth of Henry Ford.

Greenfield Village is a place unlike any other because its creator’s youth was unlike any other. Walking its streets as dusk fell, or going through the enormous museum he built next to it, Ford could retrieve that youth. And such was the strength of his engaging, elusive, infuriating personality that more than sixty years after his death, so can you and I.

He would have wanted that. His willful egotism only grew stronger as he aged, but it never got strong enough to blind him to the fact that the first half of his life was by far the better half.

Those were the years before an improvident libel suit had brought him into a nationally publicized trial in which the prosecution set out to prove his ignorance; before his bigotry boiled over and he was tormented into making insincere public retractions; before he was scared of his workers; before he got at odds with his only son and, in the view of his grandson Henry II, literally badgered him to death.

No, there’s none of that in Greenfield Village. Passing by its yards and alleys its founder would have caught spectral glimpses of his mother, dead when he was thirteen, of his first car jittering triumphantly through the vacant streets of two-in-the-morning Detroit, of the Grosse Pointe racetrack in 1901, where the pennant of blue smoke from the engine of Alexander Winton’s far more powerful automobile signaled Ford that he was about to win a career-saving victory, and of the day not long after his mother’s death when he and his father went into town. Their wagon came upon a steam-powered farm engine heading toward a job. There was nothing unusual about that, but rather than attaching it to draft horses, the owner had thought to attach it to itself. Hissing and smoking right there in the everyday road, the engine was moving toward the enchanted boy under its own power.
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Every century or so, our republic has been remade by a new technology: 170 years ago it was the railroad; in our time it’s the microprocessor. These technologies do more than change our habits; they change the way we think. Henry David Thoreau, hearing the trains passing Walden Pond, wrote, “Have not men improved somewhat in punctuality since the railroad was invented? Do they not talk and think faster in the depot than they did in the stage-office?” And of course anyone over the age of twenty (younger, and it’s simply the air you breathe) knows what computers and the Internet are doing to us now.

In between the steam locomotive and the Apple came Henry Ford’s Model T. One day toward the end of his life its maker was talking with a local high school boy named John Dahlinger, whose father had helped lay out his village, and they got onto the subject of education. Ford spoke of the virtues of the McGuffey’s Reader era, and this sounded pretty fusty to Dahlinger. “But, sir,” he protested, “these are different times, this is the modern age and—”

“Young man,” Ford snapped, “I invented the modern age.”

The claim is as preposterous as it is megalomaniacal. It is also largely true.

[image: images]

Sometime early in 1908 a knot of workmen stood peering up at the ceiling in a building on Piquette Avenue in Detroit. A few years later, these men would have been drenched in daylight in a new factory so lavishly windowed that it was known as the Crystal Palace. But this was just like any other big factory, and the object of their attention glinted dully above them in the perpetual industrial dusk.

A new kind of engine, swaddled in more rope than the task demanded, was inching its way down toward the chassis of a new kind of car.

The descending engine began to swing heavily in its slings, and, accompanied by impotent shouted instructions, started to revolve, slowly and then faster, until it tore loose and plummeted down through the car body to the factory floor.

A worker named James O’Connor remembered the moment of horrible silence that followed ended when the two men superintending the mounting of the engine got into a heated disagreement about which of them had been responsible for the catastrophe.

“I know more about cars than you will ever know!” one yelled.

His colleague came back predictably with, “I know more about cars than you will ever know!”

Henry Ford didn’t find this a productive discussion. The slender man in the neat suit stepped forward and gestured them to pipe down. They’d fix the engine and try again. He’d stay around until the job got done. He was annoyed, of course, but not full of fury and blame. There might be time for such indulgences in the years ahead, right now he was building his first Model T and he just wanted to get on with it.

The engine went in the next morning.

Decades later, James O’Connor, looking back on the squabble between the men in charge of the job, said, “I often think about them saying, “I know more about cars than you do.’ Nobody knew anything about cars.” That was not entirely true—253 American carmakers were in business at the time the engine fell—but it was true enough.
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In 1925 an editor of the Encyclopedia Britannica, seeking a contribution on a topic still too recent to have been mentioned in earlier editions, asked Henry Ford to write an article about “mass production.”

The essay appeared over Ford’s name. It is a lucid, concise, occasionally eloquent statement that, a little more than a decade later, the historian Roger Burlingame described as “a colossal blurb that begins “In origin, mass production is American and recent; its earliest notable appearance falls within the first decade of the 20th century,’ and devotes the remainder of the article and two full pages of half-tone plates [photographs] to the Ford factory.”

Burlingame said Ford’s “great one-man show” suggested that mass production had “never existed in the world before.” What about Eli Whitney, Burlingame asked, who had pioneered the idea of interchangeable parts for rifles back in the 1790s? What about Oliver Evans, whose fully automated flour mill had prefigured Ford’s moving assembly line at almost the same time? And Singer, who had deluged the world with his sewing machines a generation before Henry Ford ever thought of an automobile?

Burlingame’s ridicule did not touch on the question of the article’s authorship, although the man who actually wrote it, Ford’s spokesman and explainer William J. Cameron, said he “should be very much surprised to learn” that his boss had even read it.

Here, for example, is a passage from the Britannica essay that accurately states a belief Ford held: “The early factory system was uneconomical in all its aspects. Its beginnings brought greater risk and loss of capital than had been known before, lower wages and a more precarious outlook for the workers, and a decrease in quality with no compensating increase in the general supply of goods. More hours, more workers, more machines did not improve conditions; every increase did but enlarge the scale of fallacies built into business. Mere massing of men and tools was not enough; the profit motive, which damaged enterprise, was not enough.”

And here is a sample of this essay’s putative author writing, just a few years earlier, on the futility of war: “But the people who profitt [sic] from war must go . . . . War is created by people who have no country or home except Hadies Hell and live in every country.”

Ford wouldn’t have cared about Burlingame’s criticisms, nor would he have been in the least embarrassed had anyone accused him of putting his name to an article he’d never seen. He would have known he was in the right. He was always sure of that.

Often he was disastrously wrong about things, but he was not wrong about this big one. Mass production, which reshaped America in a decade, and which created our national prosperity in the twentieth century, was Henry Ford’s doing.

To a degree, even the phrase itself is. The Britannica’s editor asked him to write about “mass production,” but it was the “H.F.” attached to the article that planted the term in the language forever. Before that, people had called what it described “Fordism.”


[image: images]

CHAPTER 2

“My Toys Were All Tools”

The boy who hated farming; McGuffey’s “new green world”; steam and clockwork; a house without a mainspring; “the biggest event in those early years”; into Detroit.

This man, who lived to read about the atomic bombs falling on Hiroshima and Nagasaki, was born three weeks after the battle of Gettysburg into a rural America whose routines he disliked as soon as he became aware of them.

The first thing I remember in my life is my Father taking my brother John and myself to see a bird’s nest under a large oak log twenty yards east of our Home and my birthplace, John was so young that he could not walk Father carried Him I being two years older could run along with them this must have been the year 1866 in June I remember the nest with the 4 eggs and also the bird and hearing it sing I have remembered the song and in later years found it was a song sparrow.

He would love birds all his long life. Not so the other fauna around him. Unlike most farm boys, he never developed the least fondness for horses, and he detested cows. “The cow must go!” he declared decades later, apparently in complete seriousness. He wrote, “Milk is a mess.” Whatever wholesome ingredients it might contain should be counterfeited with soybeans: “We MUST make milk out of something—Heaven can’t.” As for chickens, he wouldn’t even eat one: “Chicken is fit only for hawks.”

Not that he disliked rural life itself. He believed it contained inherent virtues—just that they didn’t have anything to do with the labor that accompanied them. “I was born on July 30, 1863, on a farm at Dearborn Michigan, and my earliest recollection [after the sparrow, presumably] is that, considering the results, there was too much work on the place. That is the way I still feel about farming.”

But despite the considerable task of having to make things grow on it, Henry Ford would always be drawn—sometimes merely wistfully, sometimes with a reformer’s zeal—back to the farming world.

Michigan had been a state only for a quarter century when he was born, and much of it was still frontier. Forest stood all about him during his childhood, but his was not the hardscrabble infancy of a cider-barrel cradle in the dooryard of a log cabin.

William Ford, Henry’s father, had been born in County Cork to a Protestant family of English ancestry. In 1847, the second year of the potato famine, the twenty-year-old carpenter and his family—his father and mother, John and Thomasina, his brother, and four sisters—followed two of his uncles across the Atlantic to Michigan where, one promoter had written, there was loam “four feet deep and so fat it will grease your fingers.”

William Ford ended up in Dearbornville, in Springwells Township, a community eight miles west of Detroit—a site chosen because it was one day’s journey by oxcart from the city whose factories and machine shops were already beginning to offer a livelihood that didn’t involve hoeing and threshing.

That smoky, young alternative world had no appeal for William Ford. He worked for a while as a carpenter for the Michigan Central Railroad, but his heart was in farming, and he saved what money he could toward getting some land of his own, in his spare time working the eighty acres that his father, John, had bought and paid off.

In the late 1850s, William Ford did some carpentering for a neighbor, Patrick O’Hern, another County Cork man. He and his wife had adopted an orphaned child, a girl named Mary Litogot. Nobody ever knew where she came from, despite Henry Ford’s using all his later resources to find out.

In 1858 William Ford paid six hundred dollars for half of his father’s acreage and, thus established, married Mary Litogot in 1861. He was thirty-five; she, twenty-one.

The couple moved into the spacious, comfortable frame house that William had built for the O’Herns, with whom they lived harmoniously for years.

In the first week of 1862 Mary delivered a stillborn son. She was soon pregnant again, but the parents passed an anxious few months until, at seven o’clock on a summer morning, Henry Ford was born, full of the vigorous health that would serve him all his days.

He formed a strong attachment to the home he would re-create down to its sewing drawer. In it he was joined by siblings on a precise biannual schedule: John came in 1865, Margaret in ’67, Jane two years later, William Junior two years after Jane, and finally Robert, in 1873.

From the start Henry was interested in machinery. “Even when I was very young I suspected that much [farmwork] might somehow be done in a better way. That is what took me into mechanics—although my mother always said I was a born mechanic.”

He was to begin school at the age of seven on the second day of January 1871. Rural America valued education, but the necessity of survival dictated it not interfere with the fall harvest. The first week of the year found the Ford family snowbound, and Henry didn’t get to the Scotch Settlement School, two miles distant, until the ninth. It was a one-room schoolhouse, and like so many of the architectural surroundings of Ford’s youth is now living out the years in Greenfield Village. The curriculum was supplied by an Ohio schoolmaster named William Holmes McGuffey, who in the 1830s had conceived a series of six books: a primer, a speller, and four readers. For these, he received royalties capped at one thousand dollars. By the early 1840s the series was selling a million copies a year, by 1860, two million. Between the year Henry Ford started school and 1890 Americans bought 60 million.

These readers were attuned to the society into which Henry Ford was born. McGuffey intended them to be universal (or at least national, although by 1890 they were instructing children in Tokyo), but the midwestern critic and social historian Walter Havighurst believed them directed toward the trans-Appalachian West—“a new green world,” as he put it, “a world of creeks and woods and meadows, of dogs and horses, sheep and cattle, orchards, pastures and farmyards.”

The first page of the first speller featured the most indispensable of frontier tools—“A is for Ax”—and as McGuffey’s audiences grew older and learned to read, succeeding volumes offered little morality tales mostly set in rural scenes.

They were often far from comforting. One is headed by a drawing of a farmer carrying a boy whose hair is dripping water past another boy about the same age who is standing, hands in pockets, staring abjectly at the ground.

“Look, look, is this not Frank Brown? What can be the mat-ter with him?

“The poor boy is dead.

“He was on his way to school when a bad boy met him and said:

“ ‘Come Frank, go with me to the pond.’ ”

Frank protested that he had to get to school, but the bad boy prevailed, and Frank went to the pond and fell in. “He cried “Help!’ “Help!’ A man heard him and ran to the pond. But when he got there, poor Frank was dead.

“What will his pa-rents do when he is ta-ken home dead?”

Not all the stories ended so grimly, and most offered redemption. Although “the idle boy is always poor and miserable,” said the Third Reader, “the industrious boy is happy and prosperous.”

Virtue was espoused for virtue’s sake, but had its practical advantages, too. When in the Second Reader George breaks a merchant’s window with a snowball, he confesses and feels much better. And possibly better still when “George became the merchant’s partner and is now rich.”

Good boys, boys who would not be seduced by the splendors of the pond, get rich. The books are full of exhortations to hard work, hustle, and enterprise, coupled with homilies urging religious faith (Christian faith, that is: the Fourth Reader explains that “Jewish authors were incapable of the diction and strangers to the morality contained in the Bible”) and strict obedience to the stern dictates of conscience. In the advanced readers the mandates were softened somewhat by the addition of increasingly sophisticated selections from Longfellow, Hawthorne, Whittier, and Dickens. The frontier memoirist Hamlin Garland wrote in his popular A Son of the Middle Border, “I wish to acknowledge my deep obligation to Professor McGuffey, whoever he may have been, for the dignity and grace of his selections. From the pages of his readers I learned to know and love the poems of Scott, Byron, Southey, Wordsworth . . . I got my first taste of Shakespeare from the selections I read in those books.”

No schoolchild could escape the books and the freight of their message in those expansive, pious postwar decades. Henry Ford loved the readers, and took their precepts, with the possible exception of piety, to heart. In time, drawing on the determination William Holmes McGuffey had helped instill in him, he tracked down the whitewashed log cabin in which the schoolmaster had been born and moved it near the schoolhouse where Ford had first read his primers.

He went further than that. For those who couldn’t make the pilgrimage to McGuffey’s transplanted cabin, he reprinted the run of 1857 primers and readers, and sent them out across the country, saying, “Truth, honesty, fair-dealing, initiative, invention, self-reliance—these were the fundamentals of the McGuffey readers and they are as timeless and dateless now as they were when he assembled his texts.”

He made friends with Hamlin Garland. William Richards, a Detroit newspaperman who met Ford in 1917, remembered that the two of them “not only shared a common resentment against theoretical farm lovers who painted rural life in rosy color as if the cows milked themselves and crops were self harvesting, but both were McGuffey alumni. Ford would sit on one side of a desk and Garland on the other and try each other’s memory on what McGuffey had put in his books. One would recite a line, the other would follow with a second, and they’d go on until one or the other was stumped—then start afresh on other stanzas.”

Ford found things to do in school when he wasn’t mourning poor drowned Frank. The boys shared two-seat desks, and he was put next to Edsel Ruddiman, a neighbor who was to become his best friend. Edsel was afforded an early glimpse of two traits that would stay with his seatmate all his life: mechanical aptitude and a fondness for practical jokes. Once, when recess had emptied the classroom, Ford drilled two small holes through the seat of the desk in front of him, and set a needle in one threaded through the second with a near-invisible strand that ran to Ford’s desk. Later, during a quiet moment, Ford gave the thread a sharp tug, driving the needle up into his classmate’s rump. (Ford would have found this prank equally hilarious when he was in his seventies.)

The boy’s mechanical ingenuity took forms more constructive than getting a yelp out of a school friend. When Henry was seven, one of William Ford’s hired hands opened the back of his pocket watch and showed him how it worked: the jewel bearings, the tiny cogs, the busy mandibles of the escapement. Ford was fascinated, and spent all the time he could during trips to Detroit peering into watchmakers’ windows. He began making tools: screwdrivers filed and hammered out of knitting needles, a pair of tweezers fashioned from one of his mother’s corset stays. In 1922 he wrote, “My toys were all tools—they still are!” Of course he put the tools to work. A neighbor remarked that “every clock in the Ford home shuddered when it saw him coming,” and his sister Margaret remembered, “When we had mechanical or “wind-up’ toys given to us at Christmas, we always said, “Don’t let Henry have them. He just takes them apart.’ He wanted to see what made them go rather than just watching them go.”

Once he saw what made them go, he understood it. By the time he was twelve, he could not only take watches apart, but put them back together so that they worked better. At school he dissected them behind the screen of his open geometry book. His teacher must have seen something unusual in Henry Ford, for he fully acquiesced in these explorations, so long as his pupil didn’t disturb the class with the rasping of a file.

Ford’s interest in machinery ran right across the scale from the balance wheels of watches to the driving wheels of locomotives. On a visit to Detroit, William Ford brought Henry to the yards of one of the ten railroads that were nourishing the young city. In the roundhouse there, an engineer took the delighted boy up on the deck of his locomotive, showed him the levers and gauges in the cab, and explained how the firebox heated the water in the boiler into steam, which, when the throttle was cracked open, made its way to the cylinders and punched the pistons that turned the wheels. Seven decades later Ford still remembered the engineer’s name: Tommy Garrett.

The boy left the roundhouse to begin years of steam experiments. For many of these he recruited helpers who were glad to follow his directions. This gift of swiftly being able to establish a cordial, happily received dictatorship would stay with him all through the time of his greatest achievements. As Margaret put it, “He had the ability of getting his brothers and his companions to work for him.”

Occasionally his projects had spectacular results. Once he had his schoolmates help him build a fire beneath some sort of vessel resting on a circle of stones: Ford remembered it as a “turbine.” As Tommy Garrett had surely told him, steam is powerful stuff. The vessel exploded, setting the school fence ablaze and, the grown Henry Ford jotted in one of the pocket notebooks he always carried with him, “a piece hit Robert Blake in the stomach-abdomen and put him out!”

As for the work he was supposed to be doing, he dodged it. A neighbor said of the young Ford, “You know, that little devil was the laziest bugger on the face of the earth . . . . Henry would work along all right until about ten o’clock in the morning, and then he would want to go to the house for a drink of water. He would go and get the drink of water, but he would never come back.”

However adroitly the boy avoided its sweaty particulars, he never lost his fondness for the world he lived in: joking with his brothers, teasing his sisters, nut-hunting in the woods, the twelve-by-sixteen-foot shed his father granted him as a workshop, the family singing around the pump-organ, the ruby glow the stove cast on the parlor rug. He later compressed his youth into one of the hastily scribbled telegraphic messages he sometimes liked to send to his past: “Remember sleigh, wood hauling, cold winters, setting sun, sleighbell, long walks, cold weather, boys and girls.”

Mary Ford’s first child had been born dead, but the next six came into the world without difficulty. In mid-March of 1876, however, when she was thirty-seven, her eighth child died being born, and twelve days later she died, too.

Henry said, expressing it as accurately as he could, “The house was like a watch without a mainspring.”

Ford would ever after speak of his mother with the greatest warmth, in time coming to contrast her understanding and generosity of spirit with what he chose to see as his father’s attempts to sway him from his car-building destiny. Yet often he makes her sound sterner than he may have intended: “She was of that rarest type of mothers—one who so loved her children that she did not care whether they loved her. What I mean by this is that she would do whatever she considered necessary for our welfare even if she thereby temporarily lost our goodwill.”

However sympathetic she might have been toward her eldest son, that sympathy did not extend to his dislike of milking or plowing: “Life will give you many unpleasant things to do; your duty will be hard and disagreeable and painful to you at times, but you must do it.”

On candy: “Let your health, not your diet be your guide. Never eat merely for the pleasure of eating.”

Surely McGuffey can be heard at his most minatory in this reminiscence: “Fun we had and plenty of it, but she was forever reminding us that life cannot be all fun. “You must earn the right to play,’ she used to say to me.”

Years after she died, Ford said, “I thought a great wrong had been done to me.” He was just thirteen at the time, after all, but he never did speak of how his father must have been affected by the death, trying to repair that broken mainspring with the help of a few desolated children.

Four months later, in July, William Ford brought his son to what Henry called “the biggest event of those early years.”

They were driving into Detroit when, about eight miles outside the city, they met a steam farm engine laboring toward them beneath a sooty turban of coal smoke.

“I remember that engine as though I had seen it only yesterday,” Ford wrote, “for it was the first vehicle other than horse-drawn that I had ever seen. It was intended primarily for driving threshing machines and sawmills and was simply a portable engine and boiler mounted on wheels with a water tank and coal cart trailing behind. I had seen plenty of these engines hauled around by horses, but this one had a chain that made a connection between the engine and the rear wheels of the wagon-like frame on which the boiler was mounted. The engine was placed over the boiler and one man standing on the platform behind the boiler shoveled coal, managed the throttle, and did the steering. It had been made by Nichols, Shepard & Company of Battle Creek. I found that out at once. The engine had stopped to let us pass with our horses and I was off the wagon and talking to the engineer before my father, who was driving, knew what I was up to. The engineer was very glad to explain the whole affair. He was proud of it. He showed me how the chain was disconnected from the propelling wheel and a belt put on to drive the machinery. He told me that the engine made two hundred revolutions a minute and that the chain pinion could be shifted to let the wagon stop while the engine was still running.”

And here Ford, so much of whose youth and early development is elusive, makes a clear and plausible statement of the moment his life took a course that would intersect with everyone else’s.

“This last”—the engine running in neutral while not driving the wagon—“is a feature which, although in different fashion, is incorporated into modern automobiles. It was not important with steam engines, which are easily stopped and started, but it became very important with the gasoline engine. It was that engine which took me into automotive transportation.”

Henry Ford followed that traction engine for the rest of his life.

In 1922 he wrote, “I wanted to have something to do with machinery. My father was not entirely in sympathy with my bent for mechanics. He thought I ought to be a farmer. When I left school at seventeen and became an apprentice in the machine shop of the Drydock Engine Works I was all but given up for lost.”

This account is a small miracle of compression and omission.

He did leave home, in 1879, but not for the chances and perils of the road. He made the journey to Detroit, and when he got there moved in with his aunt, Mrs. Rebecca Ford Flaherty. From this haven he could look for a job in a city that could scarcely have offered more promise to a young would-be mechanic.

Once a fur-trading outpost, then a lumber town, Detroit had been phenomenally boosted when the Erie Canal opened in 1825, connecting the Eastern Seaboard with what was then the western frontier. The home to 9,000 people on the eve of the Erie’s completion, it had a population of 116,000 by the time Ford got there. The mines to the north produced iron and copper; the timber stood everywhere. Cornish ironworkers got word, and came, and soon Detroit was selling cast-iron stoves, and railroad cars, and any boiler or stanchion a Lakes steamer might need. All that metal and lumber fed close to a thousand companies large and small, ranging from coachbuilders to leatherworks, that would within a generation be turning out automobile components. The city’s ties with the East were close enough for Detroiters to have begun the nearly century-long custom of having oyster stew on Christmas, the delicacy’s main ingredient arriving alive in casks, packed safely on cushions of Atlantic seaweed.

Ford quickly found a job in the Michigan Car Works—the cars were streetcars—and was just as quickly fired, gone after six days. He never said why. Perhaps he realized for the first time how restive having a boss made him. Perhaps, as seems to be the flattering consensus, he showed such speed and skill in diagnosing and fixing ailing machinery that he made the older machinists jealous.

Whatever the cause, he was fired, and his father stepped in. William may have wanted Henry back on the farm, but he was friendly with James Flower, who, with his two brothers, owned one of the best machine shops in the city. He brought his son by and got him a job there. The pay wasn’t nearly as good as it had been at the car works: There Henry got $1.10 a day, and at the new job $2.25 for a sixty-hour workweek. But he loved Flower Brothers.

Fred Strauss, a twelve-year-old floor sweeper at the time, explained why: “It was a great old shop . . . . They manufactured everything in the line of brass and iron—globe and gate valves, gongs, steam-whistles, fire hydrants, and valves for water pipes. There was a great variety of work. Some of the castings on the iron bodies of the large gate valves weighed a ton or more.”

They made so many different articles that they had all kinds of machines, large and small lathes and drill presses. Some of the large lathes stood for months without having been used, but they had to have them to take care of the different jobs.

They had more machines than workmen in that shop.

This living museum was in effect Ford’s college, and he incessantly explored its exhibits, some busy spewing sparks and bright curls of metal, some shadowy and still, all of them increasingly eloquent to him.

He also acquired a friend at Flower Brothers, Fred Strauss, even though the sweeper was four years his junior. “My job was roustabout in the brass shop,” Strauss said long after. “Henry was working on a small milling machine, milling hexagons on brass valves.

“They put Henry in with me and he and I got chummy right away. Henry was to do the same work I did. He didn’t sweep the floor. I did that because I was more of a worker than he was. He never was a good worker, but he was a good fellow.”

However content he might have been at Flower Brothers, the shop put him in a financial squeeze. He had moved from his aunt’s into a boardinghouse on Baker Street to be closer to his work, and room and board came to $3.50. This left him a dollar short every week.

To compensate, he went to Robert Magill, a jeweler on Michigan Avenue whom Ford had spent hours observing bent over his watches. Magill liked Henry—everybody liked Henry—and gave him $3.00 a week: fifty cents for six hours of work a night.

Ford was full of bouncy stamina—an old friend remembered that he seemed to be “made of springs”—and the sixteen-hour days didn’t wear on him. But he looked young, even for sixteen, and Magill would smuggle him through a side door of his shop and into a back room lest the customers think their watches had been entrusted to a child.

Ford liked his work at the jeweler’s, too, and so, sure enough, Robert Magill’s shop is now in Greenfield Village, complete with the display cases, Mrs. Magill’s needlepoint, and the side door where Ford used to slip in.

He stayed at Flower Brothers for nine months—just about the span of an academic year—and then decided he’d learned all it had to teach him. He went home to help his family with the harvest, and in the fall of 1880 returned to the city and machinery, this time at the Detroit Dry Dock Engine Works, a larger operation than Flower Brothers.

He stayed friends with Fred Strauss, who said, “Henry always wanted to make things. The first time I ever saw him spend any money (he usually got the other fellow to spend it) he bought a set of castings for $1.25 . . . castings of a little steam engine . . . .

“Henry always had another idea. We never did get that machine finished. He always wanted to have something else.”

As it turned out, he needn’t have finished that steam engine, because he was about to be given charge of a full-size one. By 1882 one of William Ford’s neighbors, John Gleason, had done well enough to buy a portable steam engine. Nowhere near as large as the Nichols & Shepard that had astounded Henry half a dozen years earlier, it was nevertheless a sturdy, capable machine that generated almost the same amount of power. Manufactured by Westinghouse, Number 345 had its engine in front beneath a tractor seat, a vertical boiler in back, and, like the Nichols & Shepard, it could drive itself. “The power was applied to the back wheels by a belt,” Ford recalled. “They could make twelve miles an hour on the road even though the self-propelling feature was only an incident of the construction.”

Number 345’s primary function was not to roll across the landscape, but to plant itself next to a job and thresh clover, grind feed, and saw planks, all of which Ford was about to make it do.

Gleason had hired an operator, but “the man knew little about it,” said Ford, “. . . and he found himself in trouble. I have an idea he was afraid of his machine. The little high-speed, quick steaming thing made him nervous, and he did little work with it that first day.”

Gleason had heard that William’s boy Henry was good with machinery, and early the next morning he showed up at the door of the Ford farmhouse. “I was about as proud as I have ever been when he asked if I might run the engine while it was on his place.”

William Ford was hesitant. “He was afraid, I am sure, to let me have anything to do with an engine that had proved too much for a professional engineer . . . . He asked me if I felt certain of my ability and his tone showed that he doubted.

“To tell the truth, I was frightened myself . . . . But I was unwilling to be beaten by an engine and I solemnly assured my father and the farmer that I was sure.” William and Gleason talked it over. Henry’s younger brothers had grown big enough so that he was not necessary to bring in the harvest, and it was indisputable that he had a bump for machinery. “They finally decided to let me try.”

He approached the machine with as much seeming nonchalance as he could muster. He called it a “little engine,” but its stack stood a good six feet taller than he did, and it had already scared away a pro. Still, he fed the firebox and adjusted valves and “it was not long before my doubts entirely disappeared, and getting a grip on the engine, so to speak, I got a grip on myself.

“At the end of the first day I was as weary as I had been nervous at its beginning, but I had run the engine steadily, inducing it to stand up nicely to its work, and I forgot my grimness and weariness in the consciousness I had actually accomplished what I had started out to do.”

For eighty-three summer days, richer by three dollars at the close of each one, Henry Ford steamed about the local fields and woodlands. “It was hard work. I had to fire [345] myself and the fuel most generally was old fence-rails, though it would burn coal the few times coal was to be had.” Coal, imported from Pennsylvania or Ohio, was something of a luxury in that heavily forested world.

“I became immensely fond of that machine,” and by summer’s end was its “complete and expert master. I have never been more satisfied with myself than when I guided it over the rough country roads of the time.”

Ford’s amazing magpie memory preserved the fact that 345 had eventually been sold to somebody in McKean County, Pennsylvania. So when, in 1913, he decided to go after it, at least he had a place to start. He found it, too, derelict on a Pennsylvania farm, only its builder’s plate, which bore the 345, still in active service as a patch on the farmhouse stove. The farmer wanted ten dollars for it. Ford thought this was pretty stiff for some rusted-out plumbing, and stipulated that he must get the builder’s plate, too. The farmer complied, and Ford paid over the ten. Then he sent the man a new Model T.
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CHAPTER 3

Clara

“He’s a thinking, serious person”; winning a dead man’s job; electricity; a baby and a seventh home; the Christmas Eve engine.

Ford had many reasons to feel closely connected with 345. For one, during his summer labors, he apparently fell for its owner’s daughter, Christine Gleason. Her contemporaries described her as a “beauty queen,” and her brother said that Ford asked her to marry him. Instead, she chose Joseph Sheffery, who was both older and richer. Sheffery owned a blacksmith shop, and maintained horses and a carriage. Did Ford, who developed an increasingly powerful vindictive streak as he aged, ever take satisfaction in his career’s having extinguished his old rival’s job along with his equipage? Perhaps not, since 345 also brought Ford into contact with John Cheeney, the Westinghouse road agent in southern Michigan. Cheeney came and watched Ford at work and hired him to repair and run Westinghouse engines throughout Michigan and northern Ohio. This kept him happily and profitably busy during the summer months. He was in the farming country that he liked, and using machinery to make benign the chores that he loathed.

When winter and its snows put an end to the seasonal labor, Ford would return to the farm and his workshop there. Clouded accounts survive of his trying to build self-propelled vehicles during the cold, short days, but although he would later sometimes insist that they ran, it is all vague. Not time wasted, though, for his efforts seem to have persuaded him that steam power would always involve mechanisms too heavy to propel the vehicle he was beginning to envision.

In early December of 1884 he left his workbench for Detroit once again, this time not to tend a lathe but to enroll in Goldsmith’s Bryant & Stratton Business University, in a substantial-looking building on Griswold Street.

All we know of the school’s influence on Ford is that for a little while it had him producing clear, even elegant handwriting. That didn’t last, and Ford’s notes and letters have always frustrated his biographers. Sidney Olson, a shrewd, witty, clear-eyed chronicler of Ford’s early years, said that when “the Goldsmith influence wore off . . . his handwriting lapsed into an illegibility that almost rises to grandeur, a magnificent nonpenmanship in which every simple-looking word can be construed in ten different ways.” By way of example, Olson cites the entries in the “jotbooks” (Ford recorded the fate of his school fence in one) where he noted everything that caught his interest. Music often did and, Olson says, “In over thirty-odd years of jotting down “Tales of the Vienna Woods,’ he never spelled the title the same twice, and never once correctly.”

No record survives of what courses he took at Goldsmith’s, and he wasn’t there very long—back with his steam engines by summer—but it is interesting to speculate whether he might have brushed up against some unsung Carnegie or Rockefeller there. Whatever happened to him at the school was the only formal business training this supremely capable businessman ever got.

Amid all the steam engines that came his way in 1885, he received one prophetic assignment. Back when he had been cutting metal at Flowers’, a brass fitter recently arrived from Britain loaned him a copy of a magazine called English Mechanic and World of Science. In it he read that a German named Nikolaus August Otto had developed a “silent gas engine.” Ford recalled, “It ran with illuminating gas, had a single large cylinder, and . . . as far as weight was concerned it gave nothing like the power per pound of metal that the steam engine gave, and the use of illuminating gas seemed to dismiss it even as a possibility for road use. It was interesting to me only as all machinery was interesting.” He kept up with the Otto in the technical magazines, though, and “most particularly the hints of the possible replacement of illuminating gas fuel by a gas formed by the vaporization of gasoline.”

So he was not wholly unprepared when the Eagle Iron Works in Detroit called him to repair an Otto, even though it was the first gas engine he had ever seen. “No one in town knew anything about them. There was a rumor that I did and, although I had never been in contact with one, I undertook and carried through the job. That gave me a chance to study the new engine at first hand.”

An equally consequential encounter had taken place on the first day of 1885. Ford had begun to get interested in dancing—“There were no teachers in those days,” his sister Margaret said, “he just learned at the parties”—and he went to a New Year’s Night celebration at a hostelry called Martindale House.

In the dance hall a fiddler was calling out instructions like, “Last gentleman lead to the right, around that lady with a grapevine twist,” and Ford joined in. During a quadrille he found himself next to a second cousin, Annie Ford, and across from a graceful dark-haired girl. Annie introduced them: Her name was Clara Jane Bryant.

Clara would have seen a slender young man a couple of years her senior, with wide-set blue-gray eyes. He stammered out a few commonplaces, so obviously fascinated and distracted that his cousin mildly scolded him once a partner had taken Clara off into the crowd.

The girl had pretty much the same effect on Ford as that self-propelled traction engine did. He spent futile months going to other dances hoping to meet her. Nearly a year passed before he managed to track her down. It was Christmastime again, and they ate oyster stew together and later Ford gravely demonstrated a watch he’d acquired that simultaneously told the newly instituted standard railroad time with steel hands, and the locally observed “sun time” with brass ones. This disquisition went over better than he had any right to expect. When Clara got home she told her parents that she liked Henry Ford: “He’s a thinking, serious person—serious minded.”

That quality might have appealed to Clara because she shared it, and not all of her large family did. She had nine younger siblings. Her two sisters were smart and pretty, but mercurial, somewhat random, and one of them, Eva, was already known for her bad temper.

As so often in his life, Ford went after what he wanted. He at once bought a sleigh so he could drive Clara about the winter landscape. By Valentine’s Day of 1886 he could write her a confident letter (the script still tidy from Goldsmith’s, the orthography a bit uncertain): “I again take the pleasure of writing you a few lines. It seems like a year since i seen you. It don’t seem mutch like cutter [sleigh] rideing to night does it but i guess we will have some more sleighing . . . . i think as the weather is so bad you will not expect me tonight, but if the weather and roads are good you look for me . . . . Clara Dear, you can not imagine what pleasure it gives me to think that i have at last found one so loveing kind and true as you are and I hope we will always have good success.”

He pursued that success so vigorously that, a few days after Clara’s twentieth birthday, the two became engaged on April 19. But Clara’s mother believed, engagement notwithstanding, her eldest daughter was too young to get married.

Months passed by while Ford remained something of a permanent suitor. The long courtship followed the rituals of the time and place: quadrilles at Martindale House, summer picnics at one or another’s family farmstead, moonlight husking bees where the shucker who uncovered a red ear earned a kiss. This all sounds sweet with Currier & Ives placidity, but of course it was a molten, yearning, anxious time for Henry Ford.

The uncertainty came to an end when William Ford offered Henry the use of an eighty-acre tract he had bought from a neighbor named Moir who lived three-quarters of a mile to the west. Half the land was cleared, the other half still thick with timber.

Henry’s first job would be to cut down the trees, but once that was done his father hoped he might take up the prosperous farming life William Ford found so miraculous an improvement over his early years on a few acres of Irish soil owned by somebody else.

Henry saw an opportunity here, if not quite the one his father did. He could clear the forest—behind a steam engine, not a plow—and sell the lumber. The old Moir residence was Spartan but perfectly habitable. He would have land, and an income, and a house a few miles from where his fiancée had grown up.

Surely Mrs. Bryant couldn’t further postpone the wedding now. She didn’t. Clara Bryant and Henry Ford were married in the Bryant home on April 11, 1888.
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They seem to have been at ease with each other from the start. Margaret thinks that a turning point, or at least a profound deepening of her brother’s feelings, came before the engagement when William Ford asked his son to get rid of some stumps that were still stubbling already cleared land. Henry borrowed John Gleason’s engine—345 back again in his life—and urged the girls to come see it at work.

Margaret and Clara did, and jolted with Henry across the fields, looked on while he and steam power wrenched obdurate stumps out of the ground. Number 345’s flashing metal and occasional spew of sparks did not intimidate Clara in the least. Margaret wrote that her brother “was so enthused at that time with this way of taking so much hard work out of farming that he could talk of little else. Clara and I were “good listeners,’ but, I must confess, all the talk meant little to us at the time. I am sure, however, that Clara’s willingness to ride on this engine and to go into the field, and watch Henry at his work further convinced him she was the proper girl for his wife.”

“All the talk” may have made a deeper impression on Clara than Margaret realized. Clara had listened to her beau’s explanation of his dual-purpose watch and gone home to tell her parents about it. She saw the casual expertise with which he ran 345, and knew he was the only man in Detroit who could be trusted to fix the near-occult Otto engine. She came to trust his mechanical judgment so completely that Ford happily began to refer to her as “the Believer.” But so did he trust her: He was a Believer, too.

When, after a few months together in the Moir house, the two were speaking about building a better residence, Clara wrote a note:

Kitchen 12 x 18

Sitting-room 14 x 14

Parlor 18 x 14

Bedroom 10 x 14

“Henry, the above figures are the best that I can do. But use your own judgment about it.”

He used hers, and at once started cutting and drying lumber for what they were calling the Square House. With the help of an expert carpenter, the little house, thirty-one feet on a side, a story and a half high, took shape. It was a wonderfully amiable-looking building, with almost a postmodern feel to its chipper symmetry—a cube for the first floor, a mansard roof above it punctuated by a single emphatic dormer window, and graceful with ample porches and three tiers of lathe-turned balustrades. Some Ford family members thought it was the most appealing home Clara and Henry ever owned.

They moved in during the spring of 1889, and stayed long enough for Clara to have established an herb garden and acquire the impressive domestic accessory of a pump-organ by the time her husband was summoned to Detroit to heal another Otto engine.

This one, in a bottling works, was smaller and suppler than the first Ford had seen, and he returned home distracted. He sat and brooded over some technical magazines. After a while he interrupted Clara, who was at the organ, mentioned the engine he’d spent the day with, and said he believed it could be used to power a horseless carriage. Clara was puzzled, and Henry took a piece of sheet music and sketched the vehicle while he explained it (in his magisterial biography, Allan Nevins remarks, “To judge from other drawings made by him, there was probably more explanation than sketch”). As soon as Clara understood what her husband was talking about, said Margaret, “She had complete confidence that he could do it.”

There was more. Ford knew all about forging and turning metal, he knew all about steam. But the Otto engine was fired by an electric spark, and he didn’t know much about electricity. To learn, he would have to move to Detroit and get a job with a power company—he told Clara he hoped that it might be at the Edison Illuminating Company.

This was disingenuous. Ford already had the job. He’d gone into Detroit a few days earlier and enjoyed the following brisk transaction from those robust days before HR departments.

He went up the steps of Edison Illuminating—which, founded five years earlier, was now feeding power to one thousand homes and five thousand streetlights—and ran into an “elderly man” who was just leaving.

“Who’s in charge here?” Ford asked him.

Charles Phelps Gilbert said, “I am. What can I do for you?”

“I’m an engineer. Have you any work I can do?”

“How much do you know about the work?”

“As much,” Ford boldly replied, “as anyone my age.” Half true: He had enough understanding of electricity to know that the generators that produced it were spun by steam engines, and there was nothing about a steam engine he couldn’t handle.

That was the interview. Phelps said, “Well, I do think we have a place for you. A man was killed last week down at our substation and we need someone in his place right away.” Hours, 6:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m.; salary, forty dollars a month.

Clara was horrified. Henry may not have told her he was leaping into the shoes of a dead man, but she saw clearly enough what his plan meant. She’d be leaving her family, the countryside she had lived in her whole life, the house she had helped design, the garden. Margaret said, “It almost broke her heart.”

She was the Believer, though. The Fords left the Square House on the morning of September 25, 1891, and Henry started his job at Edison Illuminating that same day.

Gone with the couple was William Ford’s last hope of seeing his son settle down and work the family acres. Henry summed up his final departure in a sentence that, although just six words long, is spacious enough to show he had never for a moment intended to make the transition from working his engines to farming: “The timber had all been cut.”
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Clara and Henry Ford rented the right half of a double house at 618 John R Street, ten blocks from the substation where Ford was replacing the killed worker. Detroit would have seemed more alien to Clara than the Edison substation did to Henry, for it contained a one-hundred-horsepower Beck steam engine that he knew well. On the other hand, the familiar Beck stood in company with two total strangers: a Rice dynamo and an Aldington & Sims generator, machines that generated the electricity about which Ford had yet to learn. It was his good fortune that the Beck broke down first, less than a month after he’d arrived.

Detroit Edison had managed to win contracts for supplying the city’s churches. Demand was, naturally, heaviest on Sundays, and at the end of one of them the Beck collapsed under the strain. Ford immediately knew the damage was bad: a piston rod snapped, a broken valve, a hole in the cylinder block. Charles Phelps Gilbert, looking over the wreckage with his new hire, saw a trying and costly future of experts called in from everywhere, and dark churches that might well seek out rival power companies.

Ford surprised his boss by saying he could fix the engine himself. Phelps didn’t believe it, but said to go ahead and try. Ford made on his own a pattern from which to cast a new cylinder block, took care of the valve and the piston rod, and rearranged the engine’s vitals so that it could withstand the pressures of future Sundays. During this there was no sign of the winning slacker who got his friends to do his work and disappeared after going for a drink of water. Ford was at the engine all the time, and by the following Sunday the Beck was in good shape and the Detroit churches had all the electricity they needed.

Gilbert gave Ford a five-dollar raise immediately, and another one shortly after.

Clara Ford would have been gratified by this victory, but even as her husband was getting his second raise from Detroit Edison, the couple was moving to Washington Boulevard and, shortly after that, to Cass Avenue. During the coming decades the Believer would pack up and soldier forward into ten different rental houses.

They were in one on Forest Avenue when their son and only child was born.

The doctor attending was named David O’Donnell. He was a year out of medical school and there because Clara’s brother Harry had met him in a Detroit cigar store and thought he might do a good job with Harry’s wife’s impending childbirth. He had, and so, on November 6, 1893, the Fords called him to their home on Forest Avenue. Still so new to his practice he couldn’t afford the horse and buggy that was a professional necessity for physicians in those days, O’Donnell arrived with his doctor’s bag dangling from the handlebars of a bicycle.

“I didn’t run into any difficulty,” he said. “Mrs. Ford didn’t give me any trouble at all. She never complained. Mr. Ford was in the house. He didn’t get excited and he didn’t bother me. Most young fathers bother the life out of a doctor.”

If the doctor liked the father, the father liked him. Once there was a Ford automobile company, and once Dr. O’Donnell could afford a car, the Ford company repaired it free for the rest of his life.

The visit’s outcome couldn’t have been more satisfactory. The couple named the boy after Henry’s school friend and Clara’s family: Edsel Bryant Ford.
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Henry Ford had been promoted from the substation to the Main Station of the Edison Illuminating Company less than a week before his son was born. Edsel was ten days old when Detroit Edison nearly doubled his father’s salary, to ninety dollars a month, and in December raised Ford to an even hundred and made him chief engineer. This meant he was on constant call, around the clock. Many would have hated this; Ford did not. He had managed to climb to a place he wanted to be, and would stay there for the rest of his life. The fact that he could be summoned to the now familiar dynamos at any hour also meant that he had no fixed hours. In the absence of a crisis, he could appear and leave when he chose. He was good at the latter, having mastered what Sidney Olson termed “the art of the short call”: stopping by, taking an interest in this armature or that condenser, joking easily with the men who’d be doing the actual fixing, and then—gone. “He always seemed to be leisurely,” said Olson, “and he always seemed to be leaving.”

He might be leaving for yet another evanescent appearance at one of the dozens of machine shops that supplied his continuing education.

Mostly, though, he would go to 58 Bagley Avenue, where the Fords had relocated—the seventh move of their marriage—on December 15. This was a solid, comfortable two-family brick house. The twenty-five-dollar-a-month rent included use of the woodshed out back, which was more substantial than that sounds: It was a good-sized outbuilding, also of brick, that Ford shared with his neighbor.

The neighbor was Felix Julien, and nobody ever had a better one. A calm, amiable older man, retired from the coal business, he soon noticed that the newcomer was not storing wood or coal in the shed, but rather had set up benches and machinery to begin building something.

Julien moved his own coal into his house, took down the brick wall that divided the two areas, and said Ford was welcome to the whole shed: Clearly he had a better use for the room than fuel storage. Julien’s only request was that he be allowed to look on sometimes; he found this metalwork fascinating.

A few days after he’d moved his family to Bagley Avenue, Ford was at the Edison plant watching a boilermaker—his name has come down to us, as it happens: James Wolfenden—cutting and brazing some pipes in the engine room. His repairs finished, Wolfenden found himself with a length of leftover tubing too awkward to carry around on the Christmas errands he was eager to get to. He was heading toward the scrap pile that disfigured every industrial establishment in those days when Ford told him to leave the pipe there; he’d take care of it.

In Wolfenden’s rubbish, Ford had seen a cylinder for his gasoline engine.

Over the days that followed, he bored out the pipe to a one-inch diameter, made a piston to slide in it, and scavenged other parts: a discarded handwheel from a lathe could serve as a flywheel. Cam, exhaust valve, cloth-wrapped stub of wire to ignite the spark necessary to fire these elements into life . . . . He put them all together, and presented the result to his wife as what may have been 1893 Detroit’s least agreeable Christmas surprise.

On the evening of December 24, Clara Ford was getting ready to entertain the cascade of Bryants the holiday always brought when her husband stepped into the kitchen with his new machine. It was not imposing. He had mounted the piece of pipe on a board, and from this cylinder a frail-looking steel rod connected the piston inside it to a crankshaft a few inches away. A second rod—again, not much thicker than a wire coat hanger—reached back to the side of the pipe. When the first rod moved, so would the second, opening and closing an exhaust valve. Both rods would be kept in motion by the lathe handwheel that had been promoted to flywheel status.
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